**RECEIVED**

**Apr 06 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ONTARIO LAMAR STALEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002003

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in admitting documents from a website linking Appellant to an advertisement for sexual services when the State failed to properly authenticate the documents?
  
2. Did the trial judge err in admitting three additional sexually explicit photographs of two minor teenage girls with the adult female co-defendant without conducting a Rule 403 analysis when the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the needless presentation of cumulative evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May of 2022, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Ontario Staley, for two counts of sexual exploitation of a minor first degree, indictments #2022-GS-40-03148, 3149, two counts of sexual exploitation of a minor second degree, indictments #2022-GS-40-03150, 3151, and two counts of trafficking in persons under eighteen years of age, indictments #2022-GS-40-03152, 3157. (R. p. 622-629). On November 18, 2024, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman. Scott Hayes represented Appellant at trial. Megan Raymer and Carolina Hughes prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty of the two sexual exploitation of a minor first degree charges and the two trafficking charges. The jury found Appellant not guilty of the two sexual exploitation of a minor second degree charges. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to sixteen (16) and seventeen (17) years concurrent for the trafficking charges, and three (3) years consecutive for each of the exploitation charges resulting in an aggregate sentence of twenty-three (23) years. (R. p. 630-637). A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on November 25, 2024. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

1. **The trial judge erred in admitting documents from a website when the State failed to properly authenticate the documents.**

### **Standard of Review**

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

### **Discussion**

According to the co-defendant and former girlfriend of Appellant, Naneka Perry, Appellant took sexually explicit photographs of Perry and two minor girls, aged sixteen and seventeen. (R. p. 186, lines 13 – p. 186, 187, lines 1-6; pp.178-179). Perry considered the girls her half-sisters. (R. p. 179, lines 24-25). Perry testified that Appellant used the photographs to create advertisements for sex on an adult website called Skip the Games. (R. p. 186, line 21 – p. 187, 188, lines 1-25). The advertisement was entered in evidence, over objection, as State’s exhibit #5. (R. p. 144, lines 1-7). According to Perry “Johns” would answer the advertisements and Appellant would drive the girls to different locations where a pre-arranged sex act would take place. (R. pp. 192-193).

Prior to trial the State made the judge aware of some purported business records the State planned to introduce in evidence. (R. p. 13, line 5 – pp. 14-19, lines 1-15). The prosecutor explained that a website for adult services called skipthegames.eu provided SLED agent Logan Fey with cellphone numbers and email addresses that were used to set up Skip the Games accounts

in question. (R. p. 14, lines 1-9). The State relied on S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-520, Rule 902, SCRE, and Rule 803(6), SCRE for their admission. (R. p. 13, lines 6-11). Counsel for Appellant objected. (R. p. 15, lines 7-20, p. 16, lines 4-23). The judge ruled:

With this, though, skipthegames.eu, I've seen the certification, and I don't know that it satisfies this court, that it meets the requirements of Rule 803 and 902 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence or South Carolina Code Section 195520. I mean, it –the statute does refer to a certification of the custodian or other qualified person, but I – I guess the difficulty I have is that I –I can't verify the authenticity of that document.

And I –I promise you this is not a slide against you, but – or a suggestion in any way whatsoever—but for all I know, you scribbled a signature on that in your office. You know, an affidavit where someone has notarized it, where there was a witness to it or something like that –a notary verifies the – the identity of the person making the signature and then attest that they saw that person sign the document, why it's just a better practice. That piece of paper doesn't tell me that.

And again, not suggesting that you've done that. You could have emailed some intern at Skip the Games who forgot to do their job and they scribbled something up and sent it to you. I only mention that not because those are necessarily what happened here, but to demonstrate the lack of veracity of the unsworn document. And so I'm not going to exclude that category of stuff per se at this point, but based only on what I know now, where there are contemporaneous objection, I would sustain the objection.

So maybe you can cure it or beef it up in some way, but you're not there yet as far as I'm concerned. So that can be revisited at the time it is presented.

(R. p. 20, line 4- p. 21, lines 1-7).

During the trial the State proffered the testimony of SLED Agent Logan Fey. (R. pp. 373-385). Agent Fey testified, "Having done this through training experience for as long as I've been working these cases at SLED, we have developed a partnership and, through my experience also with HSI, we know that the targeted point of contact for this particular company, Skip the Games, is an individual by the name of Samuel Hancock – he's a customer service manager who runs all the legal requests. He very quickly responds to a request." (R. p. 378, lines 11-19). Agent Fey verified that the official company name was skipthegames.eu. (R. p. 380, lines 7-10). The agent

testified, “Because their servers are actually held in overseas accounts. They do have an office here in the United States in Los Angeles, but the actual company is based outside the United States.” (R. p. 380, lines 10-13). The prosecutor asked, “So they are officially – you know, this isn’t usually used in a criminal sense but domiciled overseas?” (R. p. 380, lines 14-15). The agent answered, “That’s correct.” (R. p. 380, line 16).

Counsel for Appellant continued to object to the admission of the evidence, pointing out that the servers are maintained overseas. (R. pp. 386-387). The State argued the certificate met the requirements of the statute. (R. p. 388, lines 6-11). The judge overruled the objection stating, “Yeah, I think that any defect in the admissibility of the evidence was cured, or is cured by the proffer testimony of Agent Fey.” (R. p. 388, lines 12-14). When Agent Fey testified in front of the jury the certificate was admitted in evidence, over objection, as State’s exhibit #19. (R. p. 436, line 24 – p. 437, lines 1-25). State’s exhibits #20, #21, spreadsheets of the ads, and #22, response from Skip the Games, were admitted over objection. (R. p. 438, lines 3 -23). The judge erred in admitting the records from Skip the Games, State’s Exhibits #19, #20, #21, and #22 because the State failed to authenticate the records. The exhibits are foreign records used in a criminal case. Neither S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-520, nor Rule 902, SCRE apply to foreign records in a criminal case. The certificate, State’s #19, cannot authenticate the foreign records, State’s #20, #21, #22.

S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-520 (emphasis added) provides:

In addition to those matters provided by Rule 902, South Carolina Rules of Evidence, extrinsic evidence of authenticity as a condition precedent to admissibility is not required with respect to the following:

(A) The original or a copy of a **domestic record** that meets the requirements of Rule 803(6), South Carolina Rules of Evidence, as shown by a certification of the custodian or another qualified person that complies with a state statute or a court rule. Before the trial or hearing, the proponent shall give an adverse party reasonable written notice of the intent to offer the record and shall make the record

and certification available for inspection so that the party has a fair opportunity to challenge the record.

(B) In a **civil case**, the original or a copy of a **foreign record** that is certified by the custodian or another qualified person and otherwise meets the requirements of subsection (A), modified as follows: the certification, rather than complying with a state statute or court rule, must be signed in a manner that, if falsely made, would subject the maker to a criminal penalty in the jurisdiction where the certification is signed. The proponent also shall meet the notice requirements of subsection (A).

The records from Skip the Games, or skipthegames.eu, are foreign records, not domestic records. Agent Fey testified that the company was not based in the United States and domiciled overseas. (R. p. 380, lines 10-16). S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-520 only applies to foreign records in civil cases. The statute does not apply in this criminal case. The certificate is not sufficient to authenticate the records from Skip the Games and the judge erred in admitting the unauthenticated documents.

Any reliance by the State on Rule 902(11), (12), of the Federal Rules of Evidence is misplaced because, like S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-520, the rule does not apply to foreign records in a criminal case. Rule 902(11), (12), (emphasis added) FRE provide:

The following items of evidence are self-authenticating; they require no extrinsic evidence of authenticity in order to be admitted:

**(11) Certified Domestic Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity.** The original or a copy of a **domestic record** that meets the requirements of Rule 803(6)(A)-(C), as shown by a certification of the custodian or another qualified person that complies with a federal statute or a rule prescribed by the Supreme Court. Before the trial or hearing, the proponent must give an adverse party reasonable written notice of the intent to offer the record--and must make the record and certification available for inspection--so that the party has a fair opportunity to challenge them.

**(12) Certified Foreign Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity.** In a **civil case**, the original or a copy of a **foreign record** that meets the requirements of Rule 902(11), modified as follows: the certification, rather than complying with a federal statute or Supreme Court rule, must be signed in a manner that, if falsely made,

would subject the maker to a criminal penalty in the country where the certification is signed. The proponent must also meet the notice requirements of Rule 902(11).

Rule 902(12), FRE, dealing with foreign records like the records in this case, only applies in civil cases. But see 18 U.S.C. § 3505. (Federal statute providing for the admission of foreign records in criminal cases). Again, the applicable state statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-520, only applies to foreign records in civil cases.

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence do not have a corresponding Rule 902(11) or (12), FRE. Rule 902, SCRE, provides:

Extrinsic evidence of authenticity as a condition precedent to admissibility is not required with respect to the following:

**(1) Domestic Public Documents Under Seal.** A document bearing a seal purporting to be that of the United States, or of any State, district, Commonwealth, territory, or insular possession thereof, or the Panama Canal Zone, or the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands, or of a political subdivision, department, officer, or agency thereof, and a signature purporting to be an attestation or execution.

**(2) Domestic Public Documents Not Under Seal.** A document purporting to bear the signature in the official capacity of an officer or employee of any entity included in subsection (1) hereof, having no seal, if a public officer having a seal and having official duties in the district or political subdivision of the officer or employee certifies under seal that the signer has the official capacity and that the signature is genuine.

**(3) Foreign Public Documents.** A document purporting to be executed or attested in an official capacity by a person authorized by the laws of a foreign country to make the execution or attestation, and accompanied by a final certification as to the genuineness of the signature and official position (A) of the executing or attesting person, or (B) of any foreign official whose certificate of genuineness of signature and official position relates to the execution or attestation or is in a chain of certificates of genuineness of signature and official position relating to the execution or attestation. A final certification may be made by a secretary of embassy or legation, consul general, consul, vice consul, or consular agent of the United States, or a diplomatic or consular official of the foreign country assigned or accredited to the United States. If reasonable opportunity has been given to all parties to investigate the authenticity and accuracy of official documents, the court may, for good cause shown, order that they be treated as presumptively authentic without final certification or permit them to be evidenced by an attested summary with or without final certification.

**(4) Certified Copies of Public Records.** A copy of an official record or report or entry therein, or of a document authorized by law to be recorded or filed and actually recorded or filed in a public office, including data compilations in any form, certified as correct by the custodian or other person authorized to make the certification, by certificate complying with subsection (1), (2), or (3) of this rule or complying with any statute or rule promulgated by the Supreme Court.

**(5) Official Publications.** Books, pamphlets, or other publications purporting to be issued by public authority.

**(6) Newspapers and Periodicals.** Printed materials purporting to be newspapers or periodicals.

**(7) Trade Inscriptions and the Like.** Inscriptions, signs, tags, or labels purporting to have been affixed in the course of business and indicating ownership, control, or origin.

**(8) Acknowledged Documents.** Documents accompanied by a certificate of acknowledgment executed in the manner provided by law by a notary public or other officer authorized by law to take acknowledgments.

**(9) Commercial Paper and Related Documents.** Commercial paper, signatures thereon, and documents relating thereto to the extent provided by general commercial law.

**(10) Presumptions Under Statutes.** Any signature, document or other matter declared by statute to be presumptively or prima facie genuine or authentic.

Rule 902(3), SCRE, does not apply because the records from Skip the Games are not foreign **public** documents.

The certificate, State's #19, was not sufficient to authenticate the foreign records from Skip the Games in this criminal trial under state law or the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. The judge erred in admitting the foreign records, State's #19, #20, #21, and #22. The error in admitting the documents was not harmless. The records were critical in connecting Appellant to the advertisements for sexual services containing photos of minors.

- 2. The trial judge erred in admitting three additional sexually explicit photographs of two minor teenage girls with the adult female co-defendant without conducting a Rule 403 analysis when the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the needless presentation of cumulative evidence.**

## Standard of Review

“Appellate courts apply the “discretion” standard to review decisions trial courts make on procedural questions such as the one at issue in this case, decisions to admit or exclude evidence, and other decisions.” Morris v. BB&T Corp., 438 S.C. 582, 586, 885 S.E.2d 394, 396 (2023). “The exercise of discretion is not to simply make a decision. The *exercise* of discretion requires first that the trial court recognize it has the responsibility of discretion.” Id. 587. “The exercise of discretion is then to follow a thought process that begins with the trial court’s clear understanding of the applicable law, continues with the court’s sound analysis of the situation before it in light of the law, and ends with the trial court’s ruling that follows the law and is supported by the facts and circumstances.” Id. “The trial court’s recognition of its responsibility to exercise discretion will be apparent when the record indicates the court followed such a thought process. Thus, when a trial court’s—or the commission’s—thought process of applying sound principles of law to the court’s view of the facts and circumstances is evident in the record of proceedings in a hearing, in a written order, or otherwise, the appellate court will defer to the trial court’s exercise of discretion, even when the judges on the appellate court might have made the decision differently.” Id.

## Discussion

The advertisement for sexual services posted on Skip the Games and entered over objection<sup>1</sup> as State's exhibit #5 included six photographs. (R. p. 144, lines 1-7). In addition to the six photos included in the advertisement, six additional photos were admitted, over objection<sup>2</sup> as, State exhibits #6, #7, #8, #9, #10, #11. (R. p. 150, lines 4-13). The additional six photos were not new photographs, but 8 x 10 color enlargements of the photos included in the advertisement. A captain with the Richland County Sheriff's office described to the jury who was depicted in the photos. (R. p. 150, line 21 – p. 151, lines 1-25). The captain testified that State's #6 was a photograph of the adult female co-defendant, Naneka Perry, with Minor #1, and Minor #2. (R. p. 150, lines 21-25). In closing argument the prosecutor told the jury that State's #6 qualified as sexually explicit nudity. (R. p. 539, lines 11-12). The captain testified that State's #7, #8, and #9 were photographs of Minor #1. (R. p. 151, lines 8-13). The captain testified that State's #10 was a photograph of Perry and Minor #1. (R. p. 151, lines 14-22). The captain did not identify the person in State's #11 but testified the photo was included in the advertisement. (R. p. 151, lines 23-25). Perry testified that she did not recognize the person in State's #11. (R. p. 188, lines 17-20).

In addition to the advertisement, State's #5, that included the photos and the six enlargements of the photos, State's #6, #7, #8, #9, #10, and #11, the State additionally moved to admit three more photos, State's exhibits #14, #15, and #16. (R. p. 190, lines 12-14). Counsel for

---

<sup>1</sup> The objection pretrial to the advertisement appears to be based on lack of foundation or authentication. (R. pp. 104-107).

<sup>2</sup> The objection pretrial to the six additional photos appears to be chain of custody, foundation, and authentication. (R. pp. 108-110). Defense counsel did not object to the photos pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

Appellant objected stating, “Your Honor, we’d object on the accumulation pursuant to South Carolina rule of evidence 403.” (R. p. 190, lines 15-17). The judge admitted all three photos over objection without conducting a Rule 403 analysis. (R. p. 190, lines 18-19). The trial judge erred. See State v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 343, 844 S.E.2d 651, 663 (2020). (In the context of Rule 702, SCRE, “trial court must conduct an on-the-record balancing of probative value against the applicable Rule 403 dangers. The trial court should make specific findings as to each contested element or issue.”); K.S. by & through Seeger v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two, 445 S.C. 111, 122, 912 S.E.2d 240, 246 (2025). (“The trial court did not conduct the Rule 403 balancing test on the record, as is required. State v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 341, 844 S.E.2d 651, 662 (2020).”). Once the photographs were admitted in evidence the prosecutor then said, “The State is going to very briefly publish these to limit the exposure to the jury.” (R. p. 190, lines 22-23).

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