**RECEIVED**

**Mar 26 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-002003

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ONTARIO LAMAR STALEY,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN RAYMER  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3747

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

“As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27 (2014). However, “[a]ll evidence must be authenticated.” State v. Green, 427 S.C. 223, 229, 830 S.E.2d 711, 714 (Ct. App. 2019), aff’d as modified, 432 S.C. 97, 851 S.E.2d 440 (2020). “The trial judge acts as the authentication gatekeeper, and a party may open the gate by laying a foundation from which a reasonable juror could find the evidence is what the party claims.” Id. at 230, 830 S.E.2d at 714; see also Rule 901(a), SCRE (noting that “the requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.”).

Under S.C. R. Evid. 104(a), whether to admit evidence at trial is a preliminary question. See State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 359 S.E.2d 281 (1987). Rule 901(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence defines authentication as a “condition precedent” to admissibility, satisfied by evidence “sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. Furthermore, because authenticity is a condition precedent, conditional admission is within the court’s discretion and a trial court commits no error in admitting evidence where authenticity is established at trial after the admission. See State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 522 S.E.2d 598 (1999).

Accordingly, the role of the trial judge in authenticating an item is merely to determine whether, if believed, the proponent’s proffered evidence could convince a jury that the item in question is what the proponent claims it to be. Id. The ultimate question of whether a piece of evidence is in actuality authentic is a question for the fact-finder, and as such, the trial court, in its gate-keeping role need not be persuaded that the item is in fact authentic—it is enough for the

court to be persuaded that a jury could reasonably determine the evidence to be so. See Green, 427 S.C. at 229, 830 S.E.2d at 714. Importantly, in rendering its preliminary decision the trial court must necessarily assess and consider all of the foundation laid before the jury. Tienda v. State, 358 S.W.3d 633, 638-41 (Tex. Crim. App. 2012).

Under S.C. R. Evid. 901, there is no mandatory requirement for authentication beyond the proffered evidence being sufficient to support a conclusion that the matter in question is what its proponent claims. S.C. R. Evid. 901 explicitly notes that the listed examples of authentication in section (b)(1-10) are examples “by way of illustration only, and not by way of limitation.”

Furthermore, direct proof is not required to authenticate a particular piece of evidence, and, instead, evidence can be authenticated through indirect or circumstantial evidence. Winburn v. Minnesota Mut. Life Ins. Co., 261 S.C. 568, 576-577, 201 S.E.2d 372, 376 (1973); see Green, 427 S.C. at 231, 830 S.E.2d at 715 (recognizing there are many ways in which evidence can be authenticated and the specific means identified in our State’s evidentiary rules are “nonexclusive”); see also Commonwealth v. Meola, 125 N.E.3d 103, 114 (Mass. App. Ct. 2019) (recognizing “digital evidence may be authenticated circumstantially based on its contents and the surrounding circumstances”); State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 131, 687 S.E.2d 35, 41 (2009) (recognizing evidence can be authenticated through a “more generalized approach”).

Significantly, no matter what method is used to authenticate, the burden for doing so is not a high one. Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Priv. Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015); see United States v. Kaixiang Zhu, 105 F. Supp. 3d 585 (E.D.Va. 2015), aff’d, 854 F.3d 247, 257 (4th Cir. 2017) (noting that “[t]he burden to authenticate under Rule 901 is not high—only a prima facie showing is required.” (quotations omitted)). Under 901(b)(1), evidence can be authenticated through testimony of a witness with knowledge. Under 901(b)(4), evidence

can be authenticated through: “[a]pppearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with the circumstances.”

The trial court did not err in admitting State’s Exhibits 19, 20, 21, and 22, as the State presented sufficient evidence in support of the court’s finding that the exhibits in question were what the State claimed them to be, thereby meeting the threshold for authentication set in S.C. R. Evid. 901. In Appellant’s case, the State’s Exhibits were authenticated through a combination of contents, substance, and distinctive characteristics corroborated by testimony and other pieces of admitted evidence.

901(b)(1) – Testimony of a Witness with Knowledge

The first layer of authentication the State presented was the testimony of Agent Logan Fey, who testified that he received State’s Exhibits 19-22 after serving a FOSTA request on SkiptheGames.com. Combined with Perry and Harris’s testimony that SkiptheGames.com was the website Appellant used to post the located ads, and Perry’s testimony that Appellant had SkiptheGames.com accounts registered to staleyvstaley@gmail.com and ostaleyliberty@gmail.com, Fey had personal knowledge supporting the conclusion that the SkiptheGames.com records sent to him by Hanka were authentic. See People v. N.T.B., 457 P.3d 126, 133 (Colo. App. 2019) (holding that the investigating detective had sufficient personal knowledge to authenticate Dropbox and Comcast records when the detective testified that he issues the search warrants, the records were provided in response to those warrants, and when Appellant had acknowledged that he owned a Dropbox account tied to his work email).

901(b)(4) – Distinctive Characteristics and the Like

Furthermore, in light of the many available avenues by which evidence can be authenticated and looking to the evidentiary showings made during Appellant’s trial, the evidence

and testimony of the exhibits' distinctive characteristics offered by the State was sufficient to constitute a *prima facie* showing that the SkiptheGames.com records were what they purported to be. See Commonwealth v. Meola, 125 N.E.3d 103, 114 (Mass. App. Ct. 2019) (recognizing “digital evidence may be authenticated circumstantially based on its contents and the surrounding circumstances.”); United States v. Davis, 918 F.3d 397, 402 (4th Cir. 2019) (recognizing “contextual evidence” may be sufficient to make the *prima facie* showing necessary to authenticate evidence).

### **State’s Exhibit 19 – The Certification**

Fey testified that he received State’s Exhibits 19, 20, 21, and 22 by email from Samuel Hanka, via the email address samuel@skipthegames.com. The validity of Samuel Hanka as a genuine contact at SkiptheGames.com is circumstantially supported by Fey’s testimony that he obtained the records through a request from law enforcement, the procedure normally used for criminal investigations involving advertisements for sex work, and by SearchISP’s identification of Hanka as the contact for law enforcement seeking to serve FOSTA related requests on SkiptheGames.com. See M.T.V. v. State, 66 N.E.3d 960, 964 (Ind. Ct. App. 2016) (holding that records obtained from Facebook were properly authenticated under Fed. R. Evid. Rule 901 when the State demonstrated distinctive characteristics, provided an affidavit from Facebook’s record custodian, and a Detective’s testimony that “the procedure he used to obtain the Facebook records was an ordinary procedure that he had previously used for criminal investigations involving Facebook.”).

The authenticity of the disputed exhibits is further corroborated by State’s Exhibit 23. Agent Ricky Johnson, the digital forensic specialist for Appellant’s case, testified he discovered an auto-generated email from SkiptheGames.com customer service, email address

newaccount@skipthegames.com, to staleyvstaley@gmail.com on Appellant's device. The email included a live link to skipthegames.com/validate, and was signed off by a 'Sophia Leonard' from customer service, who also provided her email: sophia@skipthegames.com.

Here, there are two important distinctive characteristics of the email addresses sent by SkiptheGames.com: the address format and the mail server. First, the format of Hanka's email address, "samuel@skipthegames.com," is nearly identical to Sophia Leonard's customer service email address, "sophia@skipthegames.com." The shared format lends credibility to Hanka's asserted position as a customer service representative at Skip the Games. Second, both uncontested communications from SkiptheGames—the "new account@skipthegames.com" and the "sophia@skipthegames.com" email address—used a "@skipthegames.com" mail server, as did Samuel Hanka's contact. Accordingly, the email addresses are a distinctive characteristic by which Hanka can be inferred to be what the State purports him to be – an employee of SkiptheGames.com. See United States v. Bertram, 259 F. Supp. 3d 638, 641 (E.D. Ky. 2017) (holding that under 901(b)(4), information like sender's name, auto-signature, physical signature, references to workplace, and the email address can by itself provide identifying information sufficient to authenticate emails even when neither the sender nor receiver testify).

#### **State's Exhibit 20 - "staleyvstaley" Account**

Fey testified that the metadata in State's Exhibit 20 was, according to Hanka, from a SkiptheGames.com account registered to staleyvstaley@gmail.com. This information was corroborated by Perry's identification of staleyvstaley@gmail.com as one of the email addresses Appellant used to create SkiptheGames.com accounts, and Ricky Johnson's testimony that one of the saved email addresses found on Appellant's phone was staleyvstaley@gmail.com. See Wilson, 30 N.E.3d at 1269 (concluding that under 901(b)(4), witness testimony identifying a Twitter

account as belonging to defendant, in combination with the content posted on the account, including pictures and gang references, was more than sufficient to authenticate the Twitter posts as being authored by defendant).

Moreover, State's Exhibit 20 was cross-authenticated by uncontested evidence, namely State's Exhibit 23, the email from newaccount@skipthegames.com to staleyvstaley@gmail.com found on Appellant's phone. The email contained account verification instructions and was received around 8 p.m. on September 2. This email corroborates the metadata in State's Exhibit 20, which shows that the staleyvstaley@gmail.com's first post was at 9:44 p.m. on September 2.

Furthermore, Heidi Jackson's testimony also corroborated State's Exhibit 20. Jackson testified that State's Exhibit 5, which she pulled directly from SkiptheGames.com after she located the post through a Spotlight search of Appellant's phone number, included an advertisement from SkiptheGames.com entitled "Storm is Here," posted on 09/05/2019 at 8:44 a.m. in the Columbia area under the "female escorts" section. This post perfectly matches the third entry from the bottom in State's Exhibit 20, which shows a posting made on 09/05/2019 at 8:44 a.m. EST. The URL indicates the post was made under the "female escorts" and "Columbia area" section of the SkiptheGames.com and was titled "storm is here." The authenticity of the exhibit is further bolstered by Perry's testimony that "storm" was Appellant's nickname for Harris, whose picture was posted alongside the ad.

#### **State's Exhibit 21 - "ostaleyliberty" Account**

Fey testified that the information sent to him by Samuel Hanka stated that the metadata in State's Exhibit 21 was from a SkiptheGames.com account registered to ostaleyliberty@gmail.com. Perry corroborated this in her testimony that she witnessed Appellant use his Liberty Taxes email to sign up for a SkiptheGames.com account. Additionally, the saved SkiptheGames.com log-in

information found on Appellant's phone, username "ostaleyliberty@gmail.com," combined with the TextNow messages, account username ostaleyliberty@gmail.com, in which Appellant discussed ads posted on SkiptheGames.com with prospective clients, is further circumstantial evidence supporting the authenticity of State's Exhibit 21.

Furthermore, much of the metadata from State's Exhibit 21 is corroborated by distinctive characteristics shared with State's Exhibit 20, most significantly the shared IP numbers. Both State's Exhibits have posts from the IP 172.75.249.9 (Ex. 20 from 09/02-03/19, Ex. 21 from 09/02/19) and IP 172.75.253.124 (Ex. 21 from 09/28/19-10/17/19, Ex. 20 from 09/13/19-10/14/19). Additionally, both State's Exhibits share similar titles, with all of State's Exhibit 20's posts titled "Storm is Here," while State's Exhibit 21 has twenty-one posts titled "Here Comes Storm." All of the posts from both sets of records were made in the US/Eastern time zone, and none of the posts were ever deleted by the account owner. See U.S. v. Turner, 718 F.3d 226, 233 (3d Cir. 2013) (noting that internal consistency of offered documents is evidence favoring authenticity).

#### **State's Exhibit 22 – Letter from Samuel Hanka**

State's Exhibit 22 is a signed and letterheaded email from Hanka to Fey, listing the emails and phone numbers associated with each of Appellant's accounts. The authenticity of this email is supported by the distinctive letterhead "Skipthegames.eu" on top, and by Hanka's handwritten signature at the bottom. See JKT Co., Inc. v. Hardwick, 274 S.C. 413, 265 S.E.2d 510 (1980) (holding that presence of official letterhead supported authenticity of document); Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Tolmar, Inc., 718 F. Supp. 3d 394 (D. Del. 2024) (holding that letterheads alone are insufficient to authenticate, but are an important characteristic favoring admission when other evidence corroborates authenticity).

In that email, the sign-up date for the staleyvstaley@gmail.com account is listed as September 2, 2019. This is corroborated by State's Exhibit 23, the email from SkiptheGames.com containing account verification instructions sent on September 2, 2019. Additionally, the account name (storm) is consistent with the metadata from State's Exhibit 20 where all of the posts were titled "Storm is Here," consistent with the title of State's Exhibit 5.

## **Conclusion**

In order for evidence to be considered 'authentic,' there must be sufficient evidence to allow a reasonable jury to believe that the offered item is in fact what it is purported to be. At Appellant's trial, the authenticity of State's Exhibits 19-22 was repeatedly and consistently corroborated by testimony from Appellant's victim, his accomplice, and multiple members of law enforcement. Furthermore, there was abundant circumstantial and contextual evidence, most notably Hanka's certification, the similar, distinctive email addresses shared by Hanka and other SkiptheGames employees, the matching metadata on State's Exhibits 5 and 20, and the saved "ostaleyliberty@gmail.com" log-in information for a SkiptheGames.com account found on Appellant's phone. Taken together, the State's evidence was more than sufficient to allow a reasonable jury to believe that Exhibits 19-22 were authentic SkiptheGames.com records. U.S. v. Reilly, 33 F.3d 1396, 1407 (3d Cir. 1994) (stating that "[f]inally, as the government argues, the messages in the radio-telegrams and their relationship to each other, to Fuentes's testimony, and to other evidence. . . satisfied the authenticity requirement. A letter or telegram 'may be authenticated by its contents with or without the aid of physical characteristics if the letter is shown to contain information that persons other than the purported sender are not likely to possess'.").

## Harmless Error

Even assuming the trial judge somehow erred in admitting State's Exhibits 19-22, their admission was harmless as Appellant's guilt was conclusively proven beyond a reasonable doubt through overwhelming evidence.

Generally, "[e]rror is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial." State v. Golson, 349 S.C. 421, 429, 562 S.E.2d 663, 667 (Ct. App. 2002). "In determining whether error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, we often look to whether the 'defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven ... such that no other rational conclusion can be reached'." State v. Ostrowski, 435 S.C. 364, 401, 867 S.E.2d 269, 288 (Ct. App. 2021) (quoting State v. Reyes, 432 S.C. 394, 406, 853 S.E.2d 334, 340 (2020) (citations omitted)). "[O]verwhelming evidence of a defendant's guilt is a relevant consideration in the harmless error analysis." Id. (citations omitted).